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The Grand Jury charges that at all times relevant to the Indictment:
| BACKGROUND |
The Defendant and Related Entities
1. Defendant Myka1a1 KONTILALI, also known as Michael Contile, was a
United States citizen, residing i in Las Vegas, Nevada. KONTILAI also resided in New
York, New Yo_rk at various times relevant to this indictment.

2. Collector’s Coffee, Inc. (doing business as Collector’s Café) (“Collector’s
Coffee” or “the Company”) was mcorporated in the Sfate of California in or around August
2007, arid in the State of Névada in or around November 2007.

3. Collector’s Coffee was a pﬁvately funded company with its headquarters in
Las Vegas, Nevada, and with satellite offices in New York; New York, and southern
California. |

4. KONTILAT started Collector’s Coffee in 2007. KONTILAI’S original
business plan for the Company described the busir‘ls,ss as an or\;lilie auction house for third-
party sales of collectibles, such as Hollywood and sports memorabilia. Collector’s Coffee
would earn revenue from commissions earned through these sales. The business plan for
Collector’s Coffee stated that the company Would have no costs for goods sold on the
Webs1te because thlrd parties, not Collector’s Coffee, would list for sale co]lectlble items theyj
owned. To drive traffic to the website, Collectqr’s Coffee also planned to produce a |
television pre gram that would feature celebrities discussing their co]l_ections.. The original
business plan of Collector’s Coffee included brick and mortar coffee shops where collectible
items on consignment would be displayed, further driving traffic to the revenue generating
website. Shortly after he founded Collector’s Coffee, KONTILAI revised the business plan

to exclude the coffee shop and focus entirely on the website and television program.
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5. KONTILALI served as Collector’s Coffee’s President, Direétdr, and Chief
Exécutive Ofﬁcer_ (“CEO”) from in or around November 2007, throﬁgh in or around
Névember 2019. KONTILALI also served as Secretary and Treasurer of Collector’s Coffee
from in or around June 2009 through in or around November 2019. KONTILAI was the
executive decision-maker and had sole authority to hire and fire Collector’s Coffee’s
employees — whom he employed on a ‘;consultant” basis. KONTILAI was the sole membe]
of the Board of Directors of Cbllector’s Coffee ﬁ(;m in or around Novembér 2011 through
November 2017. KONTILAT’s brother-in-law and sister-in-law were added to the Board of
Directors of Coﬂectbr’s: Coffee in or around November-2017.

Relevant Individuals and Eﬁtities

6. Employee A was a resident of Las Vegas, Nevada. Employee A met
KONTILAI in or around 2002 and held the title Chief Operating Officer (‘“COd’) of
Collector’s Coffee from in or around 2015' through in or around 2016. As CQO, Employee
A reported to KON’IﬁLAI. Prior to 2015, Employee A was not an emplo3.ree or director of
Collector’s Coffee. |

7. Employee B was a resident of New York. Employee B invested in Collector’s
Coffee in or around 2007, and was employed as a consultént by Collector’s Coffee from in
or around 2014 through 2018. Employee B ﬁeld the titles Dealer Relations Manager and
Director of Dealer Relations. Emplojee B reported to KONTILAIL

8. | Employee C was a_resident of California. Empioyee C was listed in investor
materials as Interirﬁ Chief Financial Officer. However, Employee C was not a écrtiﬁed
public accountant (“CPA”), did not have aécess to the Company’s ﬁnanciél recor_ds,'did not
prepare tax filings for the Company, and did not draft regular balance sheets for the

Company.
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)

9. Provident Trust Group (“PTG”) was a self.directed asset administrator
located in Las Vegas, Nevada. PTG managed retiremenf accounts. Several customefs of
PTG directed PTG to invest some or all of their PTG funds in Collector’s Coffee. PTG
executed its cﬁstomers’ directions of investment by electr(.).mc requests ﬁom Las Vegas, |
Nevada fo its California bank, ‘Citizen’s Business Bank (“CBB”). .

Relevant Fe derél Agencies

-10.  The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) was an agency 6f the United Stafes
Departnﬁent of the Treasury, and was responsibie for ehforciilg and administering the tax
laws of the United States.

11.  The United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC” or “the
Conimissio_n”) was an agency of the Federal Govemment, with its headquarters located in
the District of Columbia and regional offices located thro"ughout the country, including |
Denver, Colorado, and Nevsf York, New York. Thé SEC was empowe;ed under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) and the Securities Act of 1933. |
'(“S,écuxities Act”) to investigate violationsx of federal securities laws..

Background on Retail Banking

12.  Bank of the West (“.BOW”) and City Natioﬁal B;Lhk (“CNB”) were financial
institutions insured by the Federal Depo;csit Inéurance Corporation (“FDIC”).. Federal 12}W
and regulations requirec'lbanks to conduct due diligence on their customgrs to ensure tha£
their b.ank accounts were not being used for illegal purposes. -

13. KONTILAI opened business accounts for Collector"sv Coffee at BOW and
CNB branchgs in Las Vegas. KONTILALI was the sole signator on the accounts.

\
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Purpose of the Scheme and Artifice

14. - The purpose of the scheme and artifice was for KONTILAI to:

a. solicit funds from investors for his own personal enrichment through
materially false statements and half-truths that he or thoée at his direction made, including
statements that KONTILAI had not paid himself a salary;

‘» b. partlally conceal from investors certain finances of the Company,
mcludmg the fact that as he sohc1ted investments he siphoned money from corporate
accounts to his personal accounts and paid for personal expenses on credit cards paid for
with in-ves‘tor ﬁtnds; | | |

| C. lie to bank officials about the purpose of making large cash

withdrawals from corporate accounts in order to obtain investor funds for himself by
concealing the nature of the funds as legitimate corporate transactions When they werein -
fact illegitimate personal transactrons; ‘and,

| d. lie to the SEC about his embezzlement of the Company S funds and
create false evidence in order to continue the scheme and h_1s ongoing personal spendmg of
investor money.

THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE TO DEFRAUD
15.  From in or around 2012 through in or around 2018, KONTILAI made and

caused to be made numerous mater1a11y false and half-truthful representations and promises
concerning the use of investor funds, his personal compensation, and the financial status of
the Company that were designed to frandulently induce investors to transmit money to
Collector’s Coffee. To further the scheme, KONTILAI misled banks to steal investor funds
from corporate accounts; lied to the SEC about his misappropriation of investor funds; and

concealed the proceeds of his scheme from the Internal Revenue Service.
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16 As part of the scheme and artifice, KONTILAIT and those working at his
direction solicited approximately $23 million frorﬁ ihvestors_. KONTILAI and those
working on his behalf sold to investors shares of stock in Collector’s Coffee, either in the
form of cbnvertible prpmissor'y notes (Series A and Series B) or preferred shares (Series A -
and B). In connection W1th those offerings, KONTILALI, and his consultants at his
direction, sent private placement memoranda (“PPM”) and marketing documents that
contained materiallj false and misleading statements and promises about how investor -
Iﬁbney would be‘used, examples of which follow: |

a.. | According to a 2008 PPM document that KONTILAI gave te |
potential investors, Collector’s Coffee irlltended‘ to rais.e a total of $12,500,000‘ as part of its
first offering. The document stated “monies raised will be primarily used for developing the
Compaﬁy iﬁfrastrucﬁ;re, related legal costs, and to develop and grdvvth [sic] the integrated
social network and aucﬁon_portai. Funds may also be used for broad purposes of general
growth opportunities at the election of the CEO.” |

b. According to other PPMs, stock offerings were made on or around
October 10, 2009, “for the purposes'olf necessary growth capital,” and on or around October
15, 2015, “for the purposes of growth capi’;al to execute on various initiatives including but
not limited to a pending partnership with the Warner Music Group.” Only one PPM, a
2008 document‘provided to only a handful of investors, referred to co_mpensation for
KONTILAI. That document authorized a one-time payment of $300,000 for past (pre-
2008) services and stated that “compensanon agreements mvolvmg executives are des1gned
to defer much of their compensatlon until the Company is properly capitalized or certain

production levels have been achieved.”
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c. KONTILAI distributed to potential investors a 2014 business plan that
stated “Collectors Café has raised close to 20 million dollars from outside accredited
investors, which has and will continue to be used for creation of intellectual property, TV

series development and production, the development of its social network and auction

portal, and business model.” The business plan did not mention that investor money would

|| be spent on repayment of a $5 million loan or millions of dollars in saiary for KONTILAI,

|| the CEO.

d. - The PPMs and marketing materials were materially false and
. : |
: ? . . . .
misleading because they stated several purposes for raising capital but did not disclose that
KONTILAI, regardless of the financial success of Collector’s Coffee, took substantiai

amounts of investor fiunds for his own personal benefit, such as the rental of luxury

res_idences for himself and his Wifé in New York, Las Vegas, and Miami; the purchase of a
Cadillac convertible; the.purchase of personzil luxury items; and tuition at a private school.
17.  As further part of the schemc, KONTILAI made materially false and
misleading statements in communications with investors about his personal compensation,

examples of which follow:

a. On or around Septerﬁber 30, 2015, KONTILAI emailed one potential
investor, “I am very frugal and have not taken a dime -of salary to date.” KONTILAI
falsely told other investors that he had not been paid a salary and had not made any money
from Collector’s Coffee.

b. A 2017 Corporate Update that was sent to investorsb as eérly as April
12,2017, touted as an “Accomplishment” that “Collectors Café’s founder & CEO, Mykalai

Kontilai, has invested several million dollars personally & has not taken a salary to-date.”
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18. ~ As further part of the scheme, contrary to what had been represented to

|| investors, KONTILAI misappropriated approximately $6.1 million in investor funds

through, among other means, cash j‘Withdrawals, paying off personal credit card charges
with investor funds, and paying for rent and car paﬁents with investor funds, and then
concealed the misappropriation of investor funds, as further detailed below:

a. From on or around September 7, 2012 through July 11, 2018,
KONTILAI wired substantial amounts of money to Employee A from Collector’s Coffee
bank accounts. KQNTILAI then directed Employee A to withdraw the funds in cash and
to provide the cash to KONTILAI.‘ Employee A did in fact withdraw cash that was
transferred to Employee A and prox*rided itto KONTILAI as directed

b.  Inoraround J; uly 2018, KONTILAI told Employee A to open bank
accounts in New York, New York, ,and to accept funds from Collector s Coffee bank
accounts. KONTILAI explained that he needed money and that it would not look good for
him to withdraw Collector’s Coffee ﬁlJ,nds. KONTILA_l Wired $1 million to Employee A
ﬁrom Collector’s Coffee bank accounts. KONTILAI told EmployeelA. to give him the cash
that he transferred to Ernployee A’s accounts, which Employee A did. He also directed
Employee A to purchase gold and silver -bars fiom an online retailer — bars that KONTILAI
then sold for cash. |

c. KONTILATI also asked Employee B to open a Collector’s Coffee
business account at American Express using Employee B’s credit. Employee B agreed.
Employee B iprovided KQNTILAI credit cards on Employee B’s accounts at Citibank, -
Discover, and American Express.

d. . Between 2014 and 2018, KONTILAI used the Collector’s Coffee

American Express card to make purchases that were personal and not related to Collector’s

| 8
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Coffee. KONTILAI paid the American Express card with funds from Collector’s Coffee

bank accounts.

e. KONTILALI asked Employee B to allow KONTILAI and Collector’s
Coffee to use Discover and Citibank credit cards in Employee B’s name. Between 2015 and
2018, KONTILAI used Employee B’s Discover credit card to make purchases that were
personal and not related to Collector’s Coffee. Between 2014 and 2016, KONTILAI used
Employeé B’s Citicard to make purchases that Weré personal and not related tb Collector’.s
Coffee. KONTILAI paid the Disc;)vef and Citicard credit cards with funds from Co]leétor.’s |
Coffee bank accounts. |

f. KONTILAI ul,sed the American Express, Discover, and Citicard credit
cards referenced in subparagfaphs 1'*8(c) through 18(e) to make personal purchases at luxury
retailers including, but not limited to, Louis Vuitton, Chanel, Cartier, and Dior.
KON_TILAI also used the Citicérd to pay for tuition at a private high school Iocated in Las
Vegas, Nevada.

g. In addition to using Collector’s Coffee credit cards for personal luxury

| goods; on several occasions between 2016 and 2018, KONTILAI paid for personal luxury

apartments with payments from Cohector’s Coffee bank accounts. These apartmerits.were
in Las Vegas, Nevada; Miami Beach, Florida; and New York, New York.

| h.  Onoraround .Tuly 22, 2016, KONTILALI transferred $50,000 from a
BOW account to a car dealership. KONTILAI purchased a 2008 white convertible
Cadﬂlaé. Evidencing the personal nature of the vehicle, KONTILAI registeréd the vehicle

with the tags: “MYKALAL”

1. Between on or around March 27, 2015 and September 11, 2015,

KONTILAI withdrew approximately $880,000 from a Collector’s Coffee account at CNB

- 9
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by writing checks to “Cash » KONTILAI noted on the checks the purpose for the cash was
to purchase collecubles The notes mcluded statements such as, “Collect1b1es Purchase
(Company Inv),” “Collectibles Purchases for Auction,” “Collectibles Purchases for
Launch,” “Company Purchase of Collectibles,” aod “Purchase of Collectibles.” .The
representations on these checks were false, as KONTILAI did not purchase collectibles for
the Coirlpany with the money he Vs;itlldrew.

j. CNB erilployees quesﬁoped KONTILAI about why he needed to
make large cash ’Withdrawalé from the Collector’s Coffee account. In response, KONTILAI
told the CNB employees on or arour_ld June l9, 2015 that he peiiodicaﬂy had the

opportunity to purchase items for Collector’s Coffee and if he purchased collectibles with

cash, he received a discount. KONTILAI knew the statements were false when he made

them. Bank employees relied on KONTILAT’s explenation and believed that he was
withdrawing funds from the account to purchase collectible items for Collector’s Coffee.
KONTILAI was thereafter permitted to make the cash withdrawals. |

k.  Onoraround Augos% 15, 2016, KONTILAI told a BOW employee
that he needed to withdraw a large sum of cash for the purchase of a collectible ring.
KONTILAI said the seller of the nng was “[Employee A].” This statement was false.
Employee A did not sell any collectible items to KONTILAI or Collector’s Coffee. BOW
employees ordered cash and arranged a date for KONTILAI and the seller of the ring to
collect the cash.

L.~ Onor around August 29,A 2016, KOﬁTILAI brought Employee A to a
BOW branch in Las Vegas, Nevada, to persuade BQW emplojees that he was withdrawing
cash from the Collector’s Coffee account to buy a ring from Employee A. KONTILAI

submitted to bank employees a check drawn on a Collector’s Coffee bank account, written

10
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4

to “Cash,” fof $770,060. The note on the check stated, “Acquiring of Collectibles
[Employée‘ A] (Pick up).” BOW empioyees relied on KON’I"ILAI’S exﬁlanation and
believed that he was withdrawing funds from the account to purcﬁase a collectible item for
Collector’s Coffee. The employees released the $770,000 in cash to KONTILAI and
debited the funds‘from the Company account. -

19.  As further part of the scheme,.KONTILAI repeatedly delayed the launch date
for fhe Collector’s Coffee {Jvebsité to increase capital so that he could continue to personally
enrich himself, |

20. As further part of the scheme, to conceal his misappropriation of investor
funds, KONTILAI :rebuf‘fed investors’ ;equésts and attempts to view financial records for
Collector’s Coffeé and made materially false and misleading stateménts aboﬁt the Company
héVing a CFO. |

Attempted Concealment of Scheme from SEC |

21.  The SEC began investigatiﬁg KONTILAI for misappropriating investor funds
in or around 2017. As part of its investigation, KONTILAI was .required to answer
questions under oath in a deposition.

. 22.  When the SEC questioned KONTILAI under oath on of around May 16,

2018, about his p¢rsona1 use of investor funds, he falsely testified, “I haven’t been paid a

salary. I've been owed a salary.” To suppbrt this testimony, KONTILALI caused to be
creafed and produced to tﬁe SECa fake employment agreement that was back-dated to '
2007. The fake employmént agreement that was produced to the SEC called for a “salary”
of $300,000 a year in 2007 and $500,000 fdr each year thefeafter. When his counse] at the

time, Attorney A, later confronted KONTILAI with the faké document, KONTILAI asked

11
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Empl‘oyee A to falsely tell Attorney A th;it Employee A had prepared the employment |
agreement in 2018 from merﬁory of an original agreement. 4
- 23.  Despite KONTILAT’s claims to the SEC and investors that he “has not taken"

a salary to-date[,j ” on or around March 21, 2017, KONTILALI transferred $600,000 ﬂom
Collector’s Coffee’s BOW account té KONTILAI's personal account at TD Bank, with a
note that read: “Salary Payment 2015 & Partial Salary Payrnen; 2016.” On or around April‘
20, 2017, KONTILAI transferred an additional $500,000 from Collector’s Coffee’s BOW |
account to KONTILAI’S personal a.ccount at TD Bank, W]ith a memo note: “Additional
Previous Compensation Owed to CEO.” |

"24.  When the SEC confronted KONTILAI on or arounci May 16 ahd 17, 2018,
about his spending:of Cbﬂeqor’s Coffee fulllds, KONTILAI falsely testified the funds were
repayments of a $5 million lqan hé méde to CoIIe&or’s Coﬁ”(?e m 2007. In truth, there Waé
no $5 million loan. Moreover, KONTILAI had repeatedly told potenﬁa_l investors througﬁ
business pla{ls and offering documents that the company had no such debts by representing
that, “The company is debt free” and “The Cdmpany has no outstanding débt.” |

25. KONTILAI caused to be creéted, and produced to the SEC okn’ or around
May 14, 2018, a fake convertible note and altered bank statement dated 2007 that stated ke
loaned the Company $5 million. KONTILAI further testified on or around May 17, 2018,
“[t]he company repaid me m;)ney that it owe_d me throﬁgh paying some of my personal
credit card expenses.” KONTILAI élaimed the “Board” approved hlS personal spending of
the Company’s funds as repayment kof loans he made to the Company. KONTILAI
provided a fake board resolution to: Attorney A to support his claim.

26.  When Attorney A confronted KONTILALI about the altered bank statement

and note on or around October 3, 2018, KONTILAI denied knowing why the bank

12
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statement appeared altered. KONTILAI then asked Employee A to falsely tell Attorney A
and Empldyee A’s attorney that Employee A was responsible for the fabricated documents.

COUNT ONE
Securities Frand .
(15. U.S.C. §§ 78j(b), 78ff; 17 C.F.R. § 240-10b-5)

27.  Paragraphs 1 to 13 of this Indictment, are realleged and incorporated by
reference as though fully set forth herein.

Purpose of the Scheme and Artifice

28.  The allegations contained in paragraph 14 of this Indictment are realleged and |
incorporated by referéncc as a description of the Purpose of the Scheme and Artifice.

The Scheme and Artifice

29.  The allegations contained in paragraphs 15 to 26 of this Indictment are
realleged and incorporated by reference as a description of the Scheme and Artiﬁce.
30.  From atleast in or around September 7, 2012 through in or around October 3,

2018, in the District of Nevada, and elsewhere, the defendant,

MYKALAI KONTILAI
aka MICHAEL CONTILE,

did unlawfully, willfully and knowingly, by use of means and instrumentalities of interstate
commerce and the mails, directly énd indirectly did use and employ manipulative and
deceptive devices and contrivances in connection with the purchase and sale of a security, to
wit: stock qf Collector’s Coffee Inc., d/b/a/ Collectqr’s Caféfand U"ltimafe Collector Inc., in
contravention of Rule 10b-5 and Rule 10b5-1 of the Rules énd Regulations promulgated by
the United Statés Securities and Exchange Commissibn (codified in Title 17, Code of /
Federal Regulations, Sections 240-.101')-,5 and 240.10b5-1), and did (ﬁ) employ a device,
scheme and artifice to defraud; (b) make untrue statements of materieil facts and omit to |

state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the

13
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circumstance ;under which they were made, not misleading; and (c) engage in acts, practices
and a course of business, which would and did 6perate as a fraud and .deceit upon
prospective investors in connection with the purchase. of a security.
Allin vioiation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78fY; Title 117
Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240-10b-5.
COUNTS TWO TO SEVEN

‘Wire Fraud
(18 U.S.C. § 1343)

' 31.  Paragraphs 1 to 13 of this Indictment, are realleged and incorporated by
reference as though fully set forth herein.
32. From at least in or around September 7, 2012 through in or around October 3,

2018, i the District of Nevada, and elsewhere, the defeﬁdant,

MYKALAI KONTILAI
aka MICHAEL CONTILE,

did knowingly and wi]ifully, and with the intent to defraud, devise and inténd to devise, ba
scheme and artifice to defraud, aﬁd to obtain money and property by means of materially -
false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing such pretenses,
represenfations, and promises were false ﬁnd fraudulent when made, and for the pﬁrpqse of
executing such scheme and artifice to defraud, did knowingly transmit and cause to be
transmitted, by means of wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce, certain
writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds. |

Purpose of the Scheme and Artiﬁcg

33. The a]legatidns contained in parégraph 14 of this Indictment are realleged and|

incorporated by reference as a description of the Purpose of the Scheme and Artifice.

\

14
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The Scheme and Artiﬁce

34. The allegations contained in paragraphs 15 to 26 of this Indictment are
realleged and incorporafed by reference as a description of the Scheme and Artifice.

Specific Use of the Wires

35. MYKALAI KONTILAI, for the purpose of executing the aforesaid scheme
and artifice to defraud, did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted, by means of
wire communications in interstate and foreign commerce, certain writings, signs, signals,

pictures and sounds, as more particularly described below:

Count | Approximate Date | Description of Interstate Wire Communication
2 6/17/2015 Wire for $12§,OOO frqm Providept Trpst Qroup, in
' Nevada, to Citizens Business Bank, in California
- Wire for $50,000 from Provident Trust Group, in Nevada,
3 1072172015 to Citizens Business Bank, in California
4 11/4/2015 Wir(? for $5 0,0QO from Proﬁdent ’-l‘rust. Group, in Nevada,
‘ to Citizens Business Bank, in California
Wire for $50,000 transmitted from Provident Trust Group,

> 4/6/2016 | i1 Nevada, to Citizens Business Bank, in California

6  6/2/2016 Wirg for $30,0Q0 from Prov}dent ".Frust- Group, in Nevada,
. to Citizens Business Bank, in California

7 6/7/2016 Wire for $50,000 from Provident Trust Group, in Nevada,

to Citizens Business Bank, in California

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

' COUNTS EIGHT TO THIRTEEN
" Laundering of Money Instruments
(18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(1))

36.  Paragraphs 1 to 26 of this Indictment are realleged and incorporated by
refereénce as though fully set forth herein.
37.  Onor around the dates set forth below, in the Diétrict of Nevada, and

élsewhere, the defendant, |

MYKALAI KONTILAI
aka MICHAEL CONTILE,
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did knowingly conduct, and attempt to conduct, a financial transaction affecting interstate
commerce, to wit, the withdrawal of U.S. Cuﬁgncy from the bank accounts listed below,
which involved the procéeds of specified unlawful activity, namely Wire Fraud in violation
of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343; and Securities Fraud, in violation of Title 15,
United States Code, Section 78j(b), as more fully described in Counts} One through Seyen of
this Indictment, knowing that the transactions were Elesigned in whole and in part

to conceal and disguise the nature, the source, the ownership, and the control of the .
proceeds of thé specified unlawful activity, to wit Wire Fraud and Securities Fraud, and that|
while conducting and atterhpting to condﬁct such. financial transaction knew that the -

property involved in the financial transaction represented the proceeds of some form of

unlawful activity.
Count Date Financial Account Fmanc1a1 Transaction
3| 6/5/2015 | npoaeors Colee | $20,000 Checkto Cash
9| 6/12/2015 | yptaeoorsCoee o | $200,000 Check to Cash
10 | 77372015 | ypoaors Comee o | $100,000 Check to Cash
1| 771772015 | geopectors Coffee. 420,000 Check to Cash
12| 9/11/2015 | soaeciors Cofiee . §350,000 Check to Cash
13 | 8/29/2016 | Copector's Coffee BOW- 1 6770,000 Check to Cash

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i).
‘ COUNT FOURTEEN | '
Money Transactlon in Property Derived from Specified Unlawful Act1v1ty
(18 U.S.C. §1957)
38.  Paragraphs 1 to 26 of this Indictment are realleged and incorporated by

reference as though fully set forth herein. |
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39. " On or around J uly 22, 2016, in the District of Nevada, and elsewhere, fhe
defendant '

MYKALAI KONTILAI
aka MICHAEL CONTILE,

did‘knovﬁngly engage and attempt to engage in a monetary transaction by, through, and to
a financial institution, affecting interstate and foreign commerce, in criminal derived
propeﬁy of a value greater than $10,000, that is, the wiring of $50,000 from CoHe&or’s
Coffee’s BOW account to the bank account of a car dealershii), such property having been
derived from specified unlawful actiﬁty, namely, Wire Fraud, in violatidn_of Title 18, -
United States Code, Section 1343 and Securities Fraﬁd, in violation of Title 15, United
States Code, Section 78j(b). |

Allin violation of Tifle 18, United States Code, Section 1957.

COUNTS FIFTEEN TO EIGHTEEN

Willful Failure to File Retum
(26 U.S.C. §7203)

40. Paragraphs 1 to 26 of this Indictment are realleged and incorporated by
reference as though fully set forth herein.

41.  During the calendar tax years listed below, Ziefendant,

MYKALATKONTILAI
aka MICHAEL CONTILE,

who was a resident of Las Vegas, Nevada had and received gross income in excess of the
minimum filing requirement. By reason of such gross incdme, he was required by law,
following thé close of ﬂie calendar tax years listed below and on or before the vdates listed
below to make an income tax return to the Intémal Revenue SeMce Center,' stating
specifically the items of his gross income and any deductions and credits to which he was

entitled. Well knowing and believing all of the fofegoing, he did Wiﬂfully fail, on or around
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the dates listed below, in the District of Nevada and elsewhere, to make an income tax

return. . ‘
| Date On Or Around by Which Defendant
Count | Calendar Ye@r Failed to Make an Income Tax Return
15 . 2015 April 18, 2016 '
16 2016 ' April 18, 2017
17 2017 : April 17, 2018
18 2018 - April 15, 2019

‘All in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7203.
FORFEITURE ALLEGATION ONE
42.  The aﬂegaﬁons contained in Count 1 of this Indietrnent are hereby realleged
and incorporated by reference for the perpose of alleging forfeitures pursuant to Title 18,
United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C)l and Title 28, ﬁnited States ‘Code, Section 2461(c).
43.  Upon conviction of the offense in}violation of Count 1 of this Indictment, the

defendant,

MYKALAI KONTILAI
- aka MICHAEL CONTILE,

shall forfeit to the United States of America, pursuaint to Title 18, U‘nited.States Code,
Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), any property, real or
personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceeble to violations of Title 15,
United States ‘C'ode, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, a speciﬁed unlawful activity as defined in Title
18, United states Code, ,Sections 1956(c)(7)(A) and 1961(1)(B). The property to be forfeited_
includes, but is not limited to, at least $6,100,000 in United States Currency (“property”) .

44, Ifany of the property described above, as a result of any; act or omissioﬁ of the
defendant: | |

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
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b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

C. has been placed beyond the jnrisdiction of the court;
d. | has been substantially diminiehed‘ in value; or
€. hasbeen commingled with other property which cannot be divided
without difficulty,

the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated in Title 28, United States
Code, Section 2461(c).

All pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c).

| FORFEITURE ALLEGATION TWO
45 The allegations contained in Counts 2 to 7 of this Indictment are hereby

realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeitufes pursuant to
Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section |
2461(c). | y

46. | Upon conviction of the offense in v101at10n of Counts 2 to 7 of this
Indlctment the defendant ‘ _

MYKALAI KONTILAI
aka MICHAEL CONTILE,

shall forfelt to the United States of America, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code,
Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code Section 2461(c), any property, real or
personal, Wh1ch constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to violations of Title 18
United States Code, Section § 1343, a specified unlawful activity as defined in Title 18,
United stdtes Code, Sections 1956(05(7)(A) and 1961(1)(B). The property to be forfeited

includes,-but is not limited to, at least $6,100,000 in United States Currency (“property”).
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47. It any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission of the
defendant:
a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

- b. *  hasbeen transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

C. | has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the cdurt;

d. ° has Been substantially diminished in value; or

e. has been .commjngled with other property which cannot bé divided
without difficulty, -

the United States of America Asha]_l be ehtitled to forfeiture of substitute pfopeﬁy purs;uant to
Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 28, United States Cdde,
Section 2461(c). .

All pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c). .

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION THREE

48.  The allegations contained in Counts 8 to 13 of this Indictment are hereby
realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeitures pufsuant to
Title 18, United States‘ Code, Sections 982(a)(1).

49.  Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1), upon conviction

of an offense in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956, the defendant, -

MYKALAI KONTILAI
aka MICHAEL CONTILE,

shall forfeit to the United States of America any property, real or personal, involved in such

offense, and any property traceable to such property. The property to be forfeited includes,
but is not limited to, $1,560,000 in United States Currency (“property”).
50. Ifany ofthe property described above, as a result of any' act or omission of the,

defendant;
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a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited__ With,-a third party;

C. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

e. has been commin;gled with other property Which cannot be divided,
without difficulty,

the Unitéd States of América shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to
Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as iﬁcorporated by Title 18, United States Code,
Section 982(b)(1) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).
" FORFEITURE ALLEGATION FOUR

51.  The allegations contained in Count 14 of this Indictmeﬁt are hereby realleged
and incorporated by refereﬁce for the purpose of alleging forfeiﬁues pursuant to Title 18,
United Stateg Codg, Sections 982(a)(1). |

52.  Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1), upon conviction

of an offense in violation c}f Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957, the defendant,

MYKALAT KONTILAI
aka MICHAEL CONTILE,

shall forfeit to the United States of America any property, real or persdnal, involved in such
offense, and aﬁy propérty traceable .to such property. The properfy to be forfeited includes,
but is not limited to, $50,000 in United States Currency (“property™). |
53.  Ifany of the property described above, as a result of any act or o;hission of the
defendant:
a. .cannot be‘ located upon the exercise of due diligence; |
b. has been ltransferred or sold to, or déposited with, a third party;

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;
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d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

e. ‘has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided
without difficulty, |

the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to
Title 21, United Stafes Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 18, United States
Code, Section 982(b)(1) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).

DATED this 3rd day of June, 2020. |

A TRUE BILL:

/S/
FOREPERSON OF THE GRAND JURY

ROBERT ZINK
Chief, Fraud Section, Criminal Division
United States Department of Justice

EMILY SGRUGGS ~

Trial Attorney, Fraud Section, Criminal Division
United States Department of Justice

NICHOLAS A. TRUTANICH
United States Attorney ‘

RICHARD ANTHONY FOPEZ
Assistant United-States Attorney
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